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Introduction
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Chrysler’s identity has been changing from the start. The first Chrysler had the conveniences, power, and handling of a luxury car, but the price and interior of a mid-range car. Chrysler quickly added the Imperial, which had more power and better trim, while taking low-end cars in from Maxwell. Within a few years, Chrysler spun off its low- and medium-priced cars to Plymouth, DeSoto, and Dodge (Brothers).

After World War II, Imperial split off to be its own marque. Chrysler and Imperial monopolized the best engines in the company for a few years. Later, though, the divisions shared engines, and Chrysler was defined by trim, features, and small size differences; there was a great deal of overlap with Dodge and DeSoto. Finally, Chrysler ended up with versions of the entry-level Volare and Reliant, and was largely a more comfort-tuned Dodge, though it still had premium features and prices.

Design chief Tom Gale sought to make Chrysler unique starting in the late 1980s. He had the Viper to guide Dodge and Prowler for Plymouth. Gale oversaw the creation of many concept cars for Chrysler; then, in 1998, time ran out—and in 2001, Chrysler started selling rebadged Plymouths again.

In the 21st century, one brand leader said Chrysler was unique because it made technology accessible—but that didn’t really separate Chrysler from Chevrolet or even Dodge, which had the same user interfaces. It was a vision without a result, but it was the last publicly stated vision for Chrysler beyond such platitudes and non sequiturs as “people mover brand” or “luxury for the masses.”

Chrysler itself was born in 1924; Chrysler Corporation, a holding company, bought Chrysler’s parent company, Maxwell Motors, along with Chalmers, in mid-1925. By then, the factory had been pumping out Chrysler cars for around 18 months! For decades, Chrysler understandably celebrated its anniversaries from 1924; but Fiat ushered in a convention of using 1925. 

Stellantis, which owns Chrysler today, joined celebrations throughout the United States in 2025, bringing key cars from their collection to events and shows. The head of the marque, Chris Feuell, promised new product in 2026 and beyond.

Chrysler faces unique challenges now, having spent much of its reputation capital over years of unfocused efforts. Stellantis leaders are crafting a new vision and identity; if they do this well enough, we may see a Chrysler bicentennial—hopefully in 2124.  There should be one; Walter Chrysler did not just lead the creation of the marque that bears his name, but saved Willys and General Motors, too.

e-book vs printed book vs audiobook

The printed book was set up using InDesign. It turns out that getting material out of InDesign is much harder than getting material into it.

This edition was created by exporting from InDesign to html, then opening the html in Safari and pasting into Apple Pages. Yes, this is clunky and error-prone, and the photos had to be moved photos from the end into the text. Many photos did not make it into the e-book. Since you are reading the ebook or listening to the audiobook, I will tell you a secret: I only read ebooks now, because of the larger print. Please forgive any oddities in the layout or text, but do point them out to me so they may be fixed in a future edition. 

About this book

This book is about the Chrysler marque (brand). It is not a history of Chrysler Corporation  as a whole. If it was, it would have much more discussion of Plymouth, Dodge, DeSoto, and Imperial. Likewise, it is focused mostly on the United States though Chryslers were exported to countries throughout the world. It does cover some regions of particular interest (mainly Canada and Europe), but on the whole Chrysler fans outside the United States and Canada may not be ecstatic over the level of detail. 

In some cases my research surprised me. I had underestimated Chrysler’s strength as a marque during the 1980s and 1990s. But I shouldn’t give away the plot! You can read it for yourself.
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Chapter One. Pre-Chrysler
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The first Chrysler was made by Maxwell Motors, a company which laid its own stamp on Chrysler’s culture—including having nearly dying and being reborn as a way of life. Maxwell failed and was saved by new leaders twice; under Walter Chrysler’s hands the company had a long period of stability. This was in many ways Chrysler’s golden age, a long patch of smooth sailing thanks to Walter Chrysler and the “Three Musketeers.” 

Our story starts with Ransom Olds, the first to mass-produce cars with an assembly line. Despite the success of the “curved dash Olds,” Ransom Olds was not easy to work with, and two of his engineers, Jonathan Dixon Maxwell and Charles Brady King, left to create Northern Manufacturing. 

Their first car, the “Silent Northern,” was a small runabout whose quietness was credited to the engine’s block-based design. It cost $650, with an 18-hp model at $1,700. The open car had a fan to drive air under the car, pushing dust away from the passengers.  History is not clear on how angry it made the people behind a Silent Northern.

Buick and Olds parts supplier Benjamin Briscoe lured Jon Maxwell away to a new company, creating a relationship that would last to the end of their careers. Maxwell had joined Northern in 1902; he got to work with Briscoe in 1903, leaving Northern to carry on until 1908.

The Maxwell-Briscoe Motor Company, founded in 1904, produced a modern car with a driveshaft replacing the usual chain drive. Its power was well above the base Silent Northern, and the new car claimed the first “perfect score” (no repairs needed) on the Glidden Tour from New York to Jacksonville; it also won the “climb to the clouds” contest up Mount Washington for cars under $2,000, before winning the Deming Trophy on the Glidden Tour in 1906 and setting a 3,000-mile nonstop speed record. 

In an era when cars were not dependable, reliability was a major selling point. Maxwell’s problem was how to build enough cars to satisfy demand. They leased a second and then a third plant—each one housed many teams of people building cars separately; they didn’t use assembly lines yet. 

After a fire took out their first factory (in Tarrytown, New York), Briscoe started building the largest automobile plant in the world in New Castle, Indiana. Completed in 1907, it stayed in use into 2002; one could say they got their money’s worth. 

Benjamin Briscoe started thinking big—too big, as recounted in Lawrence Gustin’s Billy Durant: Creator of General Motors (based on Durant’s notes). If someone merged the entire auto industry, where a new car was being born every week, they could make higher profits and maybe reduce the threat of new companies. Briscoe gained the support of a partner at J.P. Morgan and then called on the charismatic and chaotic William “Billy” Durant, then-chief of Buick. 

The talks began in 1907. Briscoe wanted every automaker in the new company; Durant (according to his own notes) suggested they only look at the main mass-market companies— then Ford, Reo (Random Olds’ second company), Buick, and Maxwell-Briscoe. Briscoe favored a centralized company with numerous car designs, while Durant favored a loose federation with little sharing.

The two somehow got the leaders of every major and medium-sized automaker in the country together into a single New York hotel room, coming from coast to coast. The toughest nut to crack being Henry Ford, who insisted on cashing out rather than taking stock, but they were able to persuade him as well.

The group decided that the first step would be merging Buick and Maxwell—but then the bankers left them in the lurch because a New York Times article had exposed the scheme. Then, oddly, Buick and Maxwell did not merge. Durant forced a merger of Olds and Buick, creating the core of General Motors. And Briscoe... it is hard to understand Briscoe’s actions.

Benjamin Briscoe rapidly and apparently without any investigation added automakers to Maxwell-Briscoe. In 1910, he ambitiously renamed it to United States Motor Company. While Durant had two good companies (three when he snapped up Cadillac), none of Briscoe’s additions were viable:


•  Columbia and Electric Vehicle were brought together by Isaac Rice, who had bought Electrobat and the Riker Electric Motor and merged them with Columbia Automobile, forming the Electric Vehicle Company. His goal, and that of other investors, was to monopolize taxicabs. He also bought the “Selden patent” in 1901, which covered the motor vehicle in general, and was voided in 1911. Columbia’s 1908 Model XLVI used a serial hybrid system, using a gasoline engine to generate electricity for the motor. By 1910, though, Columbia was a luxury electric maker with some outdated gasoline models, its original model forgotten.

•  The Brush Runabout Company had been created in 1906 by Ben Briscoe’s brother, the former chief engineer of Cadillac. Its single car was tough but light, and quick with its single-cylinder engine. A Brush finished the 2,636-mile Glidden Tour in 1909; one climbed Pikes Peak; and another was driven across the country. The first production car to use coil springs and shock absorbers, the Brush easily undercut early Fords; investments in higher production would have made the Model T a nonstarter, but the company never increased production or updated the car substantially.

•  Stoddard-Dayton, created in 1904, made the high-end Stoddard and a lower-priced Courier launched in 1909; but it had high debt and no place to build the Courier.

•  Sampson included the Consolidated Motor Company, which had made the Duryea. By the end of 1905, Sampson made heavy trucks. Briscoe bought the company in 1909; by the end of the year, he had dropped both the car and truck. It was run as a hobby by its owner.



The conglomerate was the third-largest automaker in America in 1909. Stoddard-Dayton and its Courier could have been an excellent purchase, except that Briscoe didn’t notice millions of dollars in outstanding bills, nor the fact that its new car did not have a factory yet.

That alone could have sunk Maxwell, but Briscoe’s accounting methods were unduly complicated and costly as well; money moved from company to company in a tortuous path.

Briscoe’s attempt to dominate the market killed the company despite the competence of the core Maxwell cars and the popularity of the Brush. At the same time, putting Jon Maxwell in charge of running Maxwell took time away from engineering. The United States Motor Company did not last long before going into bankruptcy.

Experienced carmaker Walter Flanders was then running his own company, but having issues with name recognition. He set up a shell company, Standard Motor, to buy both his own company (Flanders) and Maxwell-Briscoe; then he dropped the Columbia, Brush, Stoddard-Dayton, and Courier and sold unnecessary plants. He rebadged the former Flanders car as a Maxwell, phasing out the older “true” Maxwells; then he renamed his holding company to Maxwell Motor Company and moved its headquarters to Highland Park, Michigan, where it remained until Chrysler bulldozed it in the 1990s.

Flanders had Maxwell sponsor an all-female team’s trip from coast to coast, then a serious feat given the mainly-unpaved roads and less-reliable cars. The first successful trip by a man had been done just six years earlier; now, Alice Ramsey and her three female companions drove their 30-horsepower Maxwell DA from New York City to San Francisco over 59 days, handling all repairs themselves.

Maxwell also brought women’s-movement stars to its New York showroom, where a woman in the window took apart and re-assembled an engine repeatedly. They also hired both male and female salespeople for its dealerships. The company’s work on attracting female buyers lasted at least into 1920.

Maxwell’s Model 25 was launched in summer 1913 as a 1914 model, and helped the company pass 60,000 sales. It sold for $695, between the old $485 Brush and Ford’s $700 Model N. The five-seater had optional electric starters and headlights. As sales grew, the company leased production space from Chalmers, an upscale company whose sales were far lower than their capacity; and Maxwell dealers were authorized to sell Chalmers cars in return.

[image: maxwell-logo.jpg]

Walter Flanders slowly withdrew from leading Maxwell as he grew older. When the company was hard hit by a new panic, it left all but 8,000 of the 34,000 1920 Maxwells unsold, and the company had no clear path to paying off its $32 million in debt. This crash was extended because Woodrow Wilson had a stroke and could not lead the country; the new president, inaugurated six months later, was Warren Harding, who said that the only cure for depressions was for everyone to spend as little as possible.

Maxwell was put into receivership during 1920. The economy was the coup de grâce, but Maxwell’s latest car had been a disaster, with weak axles and gas tank mounts—which brings us to the famed turnaround artist Walter P. Chrysler.

Chrysler had risen through the ranks of the railroads on sheer talent, starting as a mechanic who, as was the custom, had made his own tools. General Motors’ Billy Durant moved him from trouble spot to trouble spot. Chrysler enjoyed Durant’s company as a friend, but after a time could no longer work for him, and retired.

Walter Chrysler was lured to Willys-Overland by a generous cash offer and, likely, a desire to jump back into the fray. Visiting the Elizabeth, New Jersey plant, he came upon three engineers who were testing a new car for Willys. They didn’t think much of it, and had begun work on their own design. These engineers were Fred Zeder, Owen Skelton, and Carl Breer, later known as ZSB; and they had been forged into a tight team, “the Three Musketeers,” at Studebaker before moving to Willys.

Fred Zeder had graduated from the University of Michigan in 1909; while working at Allis-Chalmers, he met Carl Breer, who had graduated from Stanford on a scholarship after designing and building a steam car, start to finish, of his own design—an incredibly laborious effort.

Zeder and Breer moved together to Studebaker around 1911, and two years later Zeder set up a full laboratory there for scientific analysis; for example, to find where the Studebaker’s engine lubrication failed, he built an engine out of transparent materials to see the oil’s behavior. While at Studebaker he hired Owen Skelton, and, together, the three engineered and built cars on far more scientific principles than usual for the time. They still used steel over wood construction, mechanical brakes, and a three speed manual transmission; the engine was their major new feature. Chrysler encouraged them to develop it further, to sell it under his name.

The new car was close enough to production to merit a massive Chrysler sign above the plant—but then Willys ran out of the money it needed to start production for 1920. The car was placed on hold, and Chrysler left Willys.

Willys Corporation went into bankruptcy on November 30, 1921; the corporation owned Electric Auto-Lite, New Process Gear Corporation, Duesenberg Motors Corporation (the New Jersey site), and 80% of Willys Overland in Toledo, which was not affected. The New York Times (November 27, 1921) blamed the Chrysler car after John North Willys told them that the Toledo group was not responsible; while Carl Breer wrote that Willys Overland, after using all its own funds, had exhausted the New Jersey reserves. Regardless, the company was now $14 million in debt.

Zeder, Skelton, and Breer wanted to keep their team together, including five engineers recruited from Willys’ Toledo headquarters and a host of draftsmen and other workers. They met with Walter Chrysler, who had already taken his place as chairman of the board for Maxwell in June 1921, and he agreed to provide an advance payment to ZSB to fund their establishment as a consulting firm. (The timing has been pieced together and accounts tend to be inconsistent.)

The team rented the second floor of a two-story building on Mechanic Street in Newark, officially the Zeder, Skelton, and Breer Engineering Company (today, there is no Mechanic Street in Newark). Willys’ receivers let them rent the Elizabeth plant’s labs. When not engaged on other projects, they worked on a new car of their own—not a direct continuation of their Willys car, but similar to it.

Fred Zeder decided at one point to start a new car company backed by Clement Studebaker Jr. and Rollin White, according to Willem Weertman’s Chrysler Engines book. He created the Zeder Motor Car Company to create a new car, meaning to make it at the White Brothers’ Cleveland plant, now empty; he even had a nameplate which used lightning bolts that would return in the Chrysler logo. The effort collapsed, likely from lack of funds.

At around the same time, Judge Joseph Bodine ordered Willys receivers to auction the Elizabeth plant to pay Willys-Overland debts. The plant had “close to $2 million worth of machinery and tools” and some “valuable garage property,” according to the New York Times (June 4, 1922). The auction took less than an hour; at $5.5 million, General Motors founder Billy Durant, who had been tossed out of his own company twice, won the auction. Durant hired the ZSB team’s consulting firm to produce a new engine for Locomobile, a venerable-for-the-industry company he had bought; then his company went under.

Undaunted as always, Durant built a new Michigan plant to use ZSB’s new six-cylinder engine for it; the Flint car was sold starting in 1923 starting at $1,180, a premium price. Durant told the New York Times that it was based on the Willys-Chrysler car, but larger, and said Chrysler had spent $2 million developing it (New York Times, July 25, 1922).

As soon as ZSB had finished the six-cylinder, they were put to work on a four-cylinder for the low-priced Durant Star. The engines were fine, but the cars had obvious flaws, and the Star company failed. Still, the work from Durant kept ZSB flush with cash, and they hired development engineer Tobe Couture, and a metallurgist who became the only member of the team to leave.

Zeder’s firm had one major problem: since Durant was always short on cash, ZSB often risked not making its payroll as they waited for promised payments. Carl Breer wrote that they often negotiated with Durant while the eccentric entrepreneur was getting a shave from a barber with a portable chair, right in the middle of the office; or they might meet with him at a local lunch counter.

Meanwhile, Maxwell’s creditors asked Walter P. Chrysler to save the company in mid-1921. Chrysler agreed—for $100,000 per year plus stock options, an enormous amount for the era. He pretended to be reluctant, but his support for ZSB as an engineering consulting firm belied this.

The Maxwell Reorganization Committee was forced to put the company on the auction block just after Chrysler was hired on. They had to pay $10.8 million to get Maxwell back, overcoming two ironic bids: Studebaker’s and William Durant’s. Both companies had worked with the Zeder-Skelton-Breer team before, and both had seen the proposed Chrysler car.

When Chrysler and his team won the auction, they started yet another new Maxwell Motor Corporation, with Walter P. Chrysler as chairman of the board, an odd West Virginia headquarters of record, and W.R. Wilson as president (the rationale for not renaming it to Chrysler right then and there is unclear). The outfit also bought Chalmers Motor Company for $2 million to secure its factory, which was making Maxwells.

In November 1922, ZSB presented their plans for a new car to Walter Chrysler. He signed a personal contract with the firm to create a new engine for it, dubbed the B engine (the A engine was the Willys six, and the C and D were made for Durant).

In May 1923, Walter Chrysler became president of Maxwell—on the condition that Maxwell was buying the rights to the ZSB team’s car for $100,000. That was a low price, but Maxwell was not flush with cash and needed to invest in development and tooling. In any case, this nailed Zeder and his team down to Maxwell and took him off any other company’s table.

As they created the C and D engines for Durant, ZSB replaced cam gears with a timing chain, switched from iron to aluminum pistons, and added turbulence to the combustion chamber. They tested many different kinds of heads on dynamometers. Even the first engine used oil pumps rather than splash lubrication, but they also started using crankshafts with seven main bearings.

On seeing the B engine running quietly and smoothly, Walter Chrysler ordered ZSB to join with the Maxwell organization and make five prototype cars. Thus, on June 6, the entire ZSB team moved into the Chalmers plant on Jefferson Avenue in Detroit, and placed in charge of Maxwell Motors’ engineering group. Maxwell’s engineering was still in Highland Park, Michigan, but Zeder and his team felt they needed some distance to do their best work.

[image: complete-maxwell.jpg]

The “Good Maxwell,” the old car with its flaws fixed, was on sale by this time. On the strength of the improvements and the inspired “Good Maxwell” ad campaign, Maxwell Motors earned $3 million in the first half of 1923—more than 1919, 1920, and 1922 combined. That yielded the cash needed for the 1924 Chrysler car.

There was one more storm to weather: Nicholas and James Brady wanted to sell their sizable Maxwell shares, either directly or to Studebaker. Merger talks leaked to the press, causing a bubble in the stock which burst on November 28 when Fred Zeder said that if the deal was done, he would have the new car’s drawings destroyed. Studebaker withdrew their generous offer for Maxwell.

The new car, sold under the Chrysler Motor Company division of Maxwell, was shown to the public in January 1924 and sold in the same month. It would be a bad year for the car market, but an excellent year for Maxwell.
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Chapter Two. Early Chrysler Cars
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As of June 1923, Maxwell’s engineering organization was led by Fred Zeder; he would remain the vice president of engineering until his retirement. Owen Skelton and Carl Breer reported to Zeder as executive engineers, though internally they were still a team.

Skelton’s immediate reports were the chief engineers for body (Oliver Clark) and engine (Harry Woolson), who created the cars based on work by Carl Breer’s two departments, Research and Testing & Development. Breer did not have to go through Skelton to put his analyses and inventions to work at the factory.

The 1924 Chrysler B-70 was mid-priced at around $1,195 and up, compared to an under-$600 a Ford or Chevrolet. Yet, the B-70 had the features, engineering, and speed (70 mph, hence the name B-70) of a much more expensive car.

The first feature most people remember was Chrysler’s four-wheel hydraulic brakes. Nearly every other car at the time had mechanical brakes, often acting on only two wheels.

The first four-wheel hydraulic brakes had been created in 1908 by Ernest Weight, who got a few cars and tractors to license his system. Malcolm Loughead (later changed to Lockheed) patented his own version in 1917, and Duesenberg used it starting in 1921. These early systems were surprisingly unreliable.

Chalmers had licensed the Loughead system—as Malcolm Lougheed told him—and so Carl Breer checked it out. The brake fluid, made of glycerin and alcohol to avoid freezing and boiling, could not handle high heat; in desert field tests, the brakes would suddenly snap on when they overheated. The rawhide cups were leaky and unable to cope with temperature extremes.

Breer and his team developed a new brake fluid, experimented with new materials for the cups and lines, and found and fixed problems throughout the system before letting Chalmers use it. Some early Chalmers cars suddenly lost their brakes, and Breer experimented until he reproduced the problem—it happened when the driver pumped the brakes, and the system let air into the brake lines. At the end, Beer wrote, “There was practically nothing left of the Lockheed system beyond the idea of using hydraulic fluid... we agreed with Lockheed to give them all our patents in return for a license free from all royalties.”

The Chrysler B-70 was not the first car to use hydraulic brakes; but it was the first mass-produced one, other than the slow-selling Chalmers, to use them. It was certainly the first mid-priced car with hydraulic brakes, and the second to use a fully practical, nearly-modern system.

One major feature of the new Chrysler was the six-cylinder engine, with a highly unusual air cleaner and 20% higher compression (4.7:1) than typical engines—the Model T, for example, ran at around 4:1. The high compression was possible because of a “squish” area in the combustion chamber and clever spark plug placement. The research team had made many experimental heads single-piston engines with different combustion chamber designs, settling on a chamber with a flat head and a dome below the piston. Their new engine could run at 3,000 rpm for 50 hours.

The engine provided 68 brake horsepower on the low-octane fuel then available. Its power was the main reason the new car could run at 70 mph. The top engine speed was 3,200 rpm, higher than any American passenger car engine of the time except the Duesenberg overhead cam (again, according to Willem Weertman). The engine was hooked up to a three-speed manual transmission.

The optional replaceable-element oil filter was a first for cars; the filter was created by Ernest J. Sweetland, but Breer and his team had to adapt the car to use it.

The carburetor was a Ball & Ball, which Chrysler favored through to 1927, when they phased over to Stromberg. The ZSB team had worked with both companies at Studebaker—directly with the Ball father and son team, and with key engineers from Stromberg. Reportedly Carl Breer helped with the transition of Ball & Ball to be part of Carter Carburetor, where their designs endured as the BBS and BBD.

The 201 cubic inch engine had the cam, valves, and manifolds together on one side; it was fed by a vacuum system, with no fuel pump and a carburetor that sucked fuel in from below. This was standard for the era. A V-belt-driven water pump shared its shaft with the fan.

The generator was driven by the timing chain, so owners moved the generator to adjust chain tension (early timing chains tended to stretch). The 1924 owner’s manual Chrysler advised adjusting tension by listening to the running engine—tightening until there was a hum, then loosening until the hum stopped and locking it in place.

The tappets were a clever new design developed by Wilcox-Rich—a two-piece setup with a steel part and a “diamond-hard” (due to crystallization) chilled cast iron part, welded together. When tappets started to semi-randomly fail, Chrysler engineers worked with Wilcox-Rich to perfect the part.

Cleverly, and as a result of Carl Breer’s development work, the intake manifold was surrounded by an exhaust gas jacket to quickly and evenly provide enough heat to vaporize any leftover liquid fuel.

The B-70 had a thermometer in the dashboard, which was something of a first for a mass-market care; most used an aftermarket thermometer bought by the owner and built into the radiator cap. Having the gauge meant their radiator cap wings-and-a-Viking-helmet cap would not be replaced by the owner in favor of a thermometer.

The open cars started with split windshields but later had a single pane of glass; safety glass and curved windshields were still in the future.

The company made nine body styles ranging from 2,730 to 3,225 pounds; prices started at $1,195 and went up to $3,725 for the Town Car—but nearly every model was under $2,000. The lightest car was a four-door, five-passenger sedan. There were also a two-door roadster, four-door Phaeton and sedan, four-door Imperial sedan, two-door brougham, and four-door Crown Imperial. Each body was metal wrapped over wood—as was normal for the time. All but one model, which had steel disc wheels, came with wood spoke wheels.
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The B-70 came with few standard features by modern standards; options included front and rear bumpers, a trunk rack, spare tires, whitewalls, a touring trunk, and an outside rear-view mirror.

The cars were not luxurious by Packard or Hudson standards; their upscale features were in performance, engineering, and convenience. Their ride was not especially distinguished; the trim was just above entry level. There was no standard leather, no dashboards of polished walnut.

There is no question about the difference between a true high-end car and a Chrysler when looking at the dashboard, just as there is no question about the difference when looking under the hood.

On the other hand, the Chrysler undercut the market and excelled in performance. Its interior was arguably not as upscale as the #3 seller, the 1924 Dodge Brothers, but the Dodges only had 35-hp four-cylinder engines, despite a $865-to-$1,545 price range. Only Cord had hydraulic four-wheel brakes and those did not work as reliably.

The Chrysler exterior was certainly up to par or better for a mid-priced car, and some of the color choices, including an electric blue, were quite upscale—not to mention surprising when compared to the usual muted and dark colors of many of the cars of that era which have survived to the present day.

[image: Walter_P._Chrysler.jpg]

Chrysler wanted to be in the mid-priced market, not too far above Chevrolet, but not up in the Cadillac range. Hydraulic brakes, a powerful six-cylinder engine, temperature gauges, and other modern features (not to mention all the advance testing and engineering) were not cheap, so money had to be cut from the car elsewhere. This was the job of Zeder, Skelton, and Breer, who fully controlled both car and plant engineering.

The car weighed around 2,700 pounds, a respectable weight for the time suggesting a well-built body. It could actually run to 74 mph (though it was only titled the B-70, indicating a minimum 70 mph top speed). Many cars in the class could only reach 50 mph at most. The upscale Packard Eight could only beat that top speed by 5 mph; the more common Packard Six could not match it.

The new Chrysler quickly won the Mt. Wilson hill climb, echoing the first-year performance of the original Maxwell, and then driver Ralph De Palma toured the country to set track records at various fields. Sir Malcolm Campbell set a mph record at Brooklands, beating 100 mph, in 1925, though how he gained the extra 26 mph is unknown.

Carl Breer wrote that around 32,000 Chrysler cars were made in 1924, which was a good number for a brand new car. “People liked them because they could drive as fast as they dared, yet the car would stay right with them and seemed to ask for more. This was something most cars of that time would not do.” (The annual report listed U.S. sales of 82,289 cars, covering both Maxwells and Chryslers.)

It helped that Joe Fields, the head of sales, was excellent at his job—and sent out comparison tables to salesmen to prove the superiority of the cars. He started up salesman classes, which may have been the first, to train them on the advantages of the Chrysler as well as the Maxwell. The world’s first known factory triple-tone paint job may or may not have contributed.

Chrysler kept bringing improvements and sometimes quite hefty innovations. Carl Breer was happy to work with any vendor or person who had a better idea, and by assigning people to test and help develop those ideas, improved upon whatever had come his way. This pattern of taking a raw idea, commercializing and improving on it, and sometimes giving the improvements back to the inventor, took place year after year.

In mid-1925, Walter Chrysler, for reasons which his best biographer, Vincent Cursio, could only guess, set up a new shell company dubbed Chrysler Motors. This company consolidated the now-separate Maxwell and Chrysler organizations and moved the state of incorporation to Delaware, almost incidentally changing the company name.

While this is the event today’s Chrysler uses to set its founding date, it had nothing to do with the cars. The Zeder-Skelton-Breer organization moved smoothly over to the new company.

Both Chrysler and Flanders bought an existing Maxwell and used the company to make and sell their own cars. However, Chrysler put his name onto the company—and was supported by a strong team which survived his retirement.

The sales numbers for 1925 were even better than in 1924, partly because it was the first full year with production ramped up, and possibly due to word of mouth and later improvements. Chrysler sold 106,857 cars in the United States, compared with 30,811 Maxwells. That switch brought Chrysler to rename the Maxwell 25C to Chrysler 25; most today call it the Chrysler Four. The Maxwell name thus disappeared into history and, some years later, the Jack Benny show.

As 1926 opened, Chrysler had three cars, one of which was simply the old Maxwell. Internally called the Model F-58, it was the only Chrysler with mechanical brakes.

Zeder, Skelton, and Breer had already made many changes to the old Maxwell 25 make it into the Good Maxwell. In 1922, its engine had open combustion chambers, a gear-driven distributor, a rotary-gear oil pump, and a thermosyphon system (instead of a water pump).

[image: 3m.jpg]

Equipped this way, it was rated at just 30 bhp. The engineers discovered that the engine lost power when it was hot, and regained it when cooling down. The culprit was exhaust valves which warped with heat, then regained their proper shape.

Zeder, Skelton, and Breer redesigned the engine to have a higher deck, coolant passages above the ports, and separate ports for the center valves. As a result they could rate the 1925 Maxwell 25C at 38 or 38.5 bhp, which was the number cited for the Chrysler 25.

The 1926 brochure shows three Chryslers—the Chrysler “58,” Chrysler “70,” and Chrysler Imperial “80” (the quotes are from the brochure). The numbers showed the top speed for a typical buyer. The Imperial had been launched in 1925, but now had the designation Model E-80.

The 1926 six-cylinder engines had a slightly larger bore, reaching 219 cubic inches. They were smoother than in 1925 because of a torsional vibration dampener on the crankshaft nose, as well as rubber engine mounts and spring shackles. As a result, the 1926 cars much smoother than the 1925 models.

Chrysler added adjustable front seats in this year, a surprising industry first; you could not get them in a Cadillac, Lincoln, or Packard.

They also had minor cosmetic changes, leading to a new model code, G, for the Chrysler “70.” (The Imperial was code E and the former Maxwell was code F.)

Chrysler’s brochure claimed that it emphasized its top speeds not to brag to performance buffs, but because “to reach and hold road speeds a car must be exceptionally well engineered and exceptionally well built...”

The Imperial had a special engine now, producing 92 horsepower—quite a high figure for the time—by using a bigger bore and stroke (3.5 x 5.0 inches). This 289 cubic inch engine had both a larger bore and a larger stroke than Chrysler’s 219. It was not an easy change, requiring a new block with wider cylinder spacing and a higher deck which otherwise had a similar design to the G-70. An electric heater in the carburetor helped with cold starting.

The Packard Single Eight, one of the few cars to keep up with the Imperial, was much pricier. It was rated at 85 bhp, and had a similar top speed; but it needed around 70 more cubic inches (358 cid) and two more cylinders to produce about the same power. The Imperial generated 192 lb-ft of torque from just 1,000 rpm, similar to the Packard.

The new 58 was pricier than the old Maxwell, running from $890 to $995 for the roadster, and over $1,000 for the enclosed cars; weight ran from 2,375 to 2,680 lb. The company made around 81,000 of these for the 1926 “model year” (a term used quite loosely at that point).

The more expensive Model 70 was nearly as popular, with around 72,000 made for that year; their price went from $1,395 to $2,095, in a fairly well distributed range, across seven body styles. Finally, the Imperial started at $2,645 and went up to $3,695 for a seven-passenger limousine; weight ran from 3,730 lb to 4,260 lb. Seven-passenger custom bodies were also available. An Imperial roadster was selected as the Indy 500 pace car, driven by Louis Chevrolet, the creator (with Billy Durant) of General Motors’ most popular marque.

Two new cars launched late in 1926. The Series 60 was the existing Maxwell body with a new 180 cubic inch six-cylinder engine, based on but improved from the bigger Chrysler straight six. At 54 hp, it was considerably more powerful than the four-cylinder, and had the smoothness and prestige of a six cylinder.

The idea for this car came from General Motors’ Alfred Sloan. He had just launched the Pontiac, a modified Chevrolet with a six-cylinder engine, sold at just above the Chevrolet price; its slogan was “a six at the price of a four.” The six-cylinder Pontiac variant of the Chevrolet provided an even better economy of scale, and Chrysler was happy and quite quick to take the idea.

Dodge Brothers saw the Pontiac’s success and added a six-cylinder, but they created a new car at twice the price to do it, and sales plunged.

Finally, two corporate events took place this year. Chrysler Corporation had purchased Kercheval, one of their body builders, and was using their plant and people to make their own bodies; they also used Budd, Fleetwood, Briggs, and other body builders as needed. (Budd made all the 58s.)

Chrysler also adopted the Fedco system for serial numbers, a bizarre code with three letters and three numbers. The letters corresponded to numbers, and spelled out WPCHRYSLED so that W=0 and D=9 (using D because the final R in Chrysler was already in use.)

1926 sales rose again. A company report stated that they sold 163,954 cars in the United States and 6,438 in Canada. These were all standard cars, with no trucks or buses. Most of the cars were enclosed (sedans, coupes, and such)—24% were open cars in the US, 12% in Canada. The company had 12,730 employees. Exports, including to Canada, were growing, up to 10% of sales volume in 1926 from 8% the year before and 5% in 1924.
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